
From California to Florida, government officials may not be a party, directly or
indirectly, to any contract with the public agency they serve.1 Michigan is one of the
only states which ignores substantial conflict of interests when governor appointed
taxpayer funded grantors are simultaneously allowed to be taxpayer funded grantees
with the same grants they control.2

This complaint regards somewhat intertwined ethics violations related to several
government appointees, including Randy Thelen, Tom Lutz (Eli Isaguirre), Stephen
Pontoni, and Jennifer Root. The complaint also discusses, but does not complain of,
related political and government parties, including Amy Chapman, Amanda Stitt,
Patrick Schuh, Doug Pratt, Lonnie Scott, Bob Allison, Bill Pink, Krista Flynn, Steven
Downing, etc. The employers related to this complaint are tax-exempt organizations,
including unions, business leagues, and social/welfare groups. In addition to not paying
taxes on the outset, these organizations have taken millions in taxpayer funded
MSF/MEDC grants that they were not eligible for, in violation of Michigan public
contracting and ethics laws. The issues herein concern ethics problems like those in
the case of Fay Beydoun. Beydoun is no longer appointed to the MEDC, so the BOE
likely has no jurisdiction over her, but when she was an MEDC board member, she was
able to secure a $20,000,000 legislatively appropriated MEDC grant in taxpayer funding
for a tax-exempt organization that didn’t even exist yet.3 In all of these cases, taxpayers
are harmed twice: with the cronyistic squandering of our taxes with fraudulent wasteful
grants that NEVER end up creating the jobs promised in return;4 and by footing the tax
bill for these organization in the first place. The following pages provide details of
inappropriate conflicts of interest as well as unlawful contracting/public fund
expenditures at the Michigan Strategic Fund (MSF) and its subsidiary, the Michigan
Economic Development Corporation (MEDC), etc. Though I examine but two
MSF/MEDC clusters of conspirators here, there are surely more.
MEDC is a public-private partnership agency and economic development
corporation charged with spending taxpayer funding, under the MSF.5 MEDC was
created under section 28 of article VII of the state constitution of 1963 and the urban
cooperation act of 1967, 1967 (Ex Sess) PA 7, MCL 124.501 to 124.512, by contractual
interlocal agreement effective April 5, 1999, between local participating economic
development corporations formed under the economic development corporations act,
1974 PA 338, MCL 125.1601 to 125.1636, and the MSF.6 The MSF was created by P.A.

6 https://www.legislature.mi.gov/documents/mcl/pdf/mcl-Act-338-of-1974.pdf
5 https://www.michiganbusiness.org/about-medc/
4 https://www.mackinac.org/study-michigan-business-development-program-of-questionable-merit
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https://www.detroitnews.com/story/news/politics/2024/05/22/nonprofit-fay-beydoun-made-failed-pitches-to
-medc-before-scoring-20m-legislative-grant/73785339007/

2https://kslegislature.gov/li/b2023_24/committees/ctte_spc_2023_special_committee_on_governmental_1
/documents/testimony/20231006_06.pdf https://www.ncsl.org/ethics/state-ethics-commissions

1 https://www.counties.org/sites/main/files/file-attachments/csac-ilg_ethics_4-pager.pdf

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Public-private_partnership
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Economic_development_corporation
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Economic_development_corporation


270 of 1984, the MSF Act, and has broad authority to promote economic development
and create jobs with the taxpayer dollars that make up the fund.7 The board members
of MSF/MEDC are appointed by the governor.8

The public officer oath MSF/MEDC governor appointees take states: “I do solemnly
swear (or affirm) that I will support the Constitution of the United States and the
constitution of this state, and that I will faithfully discharge the duties of the office of
.......... according to the best of my ability.9” The duties of the MSF board include
making grants and loans as well as approving bonds with the support of subsidiary
MEDC.10 The duties of the MEDC executive committee is responsible for the overall
management and control of the MEDC.11

State Ethics Act states: ““public officer” means a person appointed by the governor or
another executive department official. For the purpose of section 2b, public officer shall
include an elected or appointed official of this state or a political subdivision of this
state.” The Board of Ethics has jurisdiction over Randy Thelen, Tom Lutz, Jennifer Root,
and Stephen Pontoni because they are governor appointees.12 These
appointees/parties have breached Michigan ethics laws related to public funds, conflict
of interest, and/or contracting. Although, in cases where Lutz and Thelen solicited and
accepted funding from the agency they served, they often superficially recuse
themselves from voting on contracts when there are glaring conflicts. However, recusal
is insufficient to comply with Michigan law. Furthermore, Lutz and Thelen control the
terms of the grants and do not consistently recuse themselves from those discussions.
The Michigan Strategic Fund Act, under MCL 125.2006, states (in reference to
MEDC/MSF committee appointees): “notwithstanding section 3(1) of 1968 PA 317,
MCL 15.323, members of the board and officers and employees of the fund are subject
to 1968 PA 317, MCL 15.321 to 15.330…” This means there are no exceptions
regarding the prohibition against MSF/MEDC appointees contracting with the public
entity they serve, MSF/MEDC, and that recusal is insufficient to overcome conflicts of
interest. Furthermore, Michigan Contracts with Public Servants, MCL 15.322 defines
“public servant” to include “all persons serving any public entity.” “Public entity” means
“the state including all agencies thereof, any public body corporate within the state,
including all agencies thereof, or any non-incorporated public body within the state of
whatever nature, including all agencies thereof.” MCL 15.322 goes on to state “a public
servant shall not be a party, directly or indirectly, to any contract between himself or
herself and the public entity of which he or she is an officer or employee…;a public
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https://www.michigan.gov/mdcs/quick-links/boardethics#:~:text=The%20State%20Ethics%20Board%20ha
s,Governor%20or%20other%20executive%20officials.

11 https://www.michiganbusiness.org/about-medc/executive-committee/
10 https://www.michiganbusiness.org/about-medc/michigan-strategic-fund/
9 § 1 Oath of public officers. MICHIGAN Constitution ARTICLE XI
8 http://legislature.mi.gov/doc.aspx?mcl-2-132
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servant shall not directly or indirectly solicit any contract between the public entity of
which he or she is an officer or employee and any of the following: (a) Him or
herself. (b) Any firm, meaning a co-partnership or other unincorporated association, of
which he or she is a partner, member, or employee.” AG Opinion #6906 found that
“1968 PA 317, MCL 15.321 et seq; MSA 4.1700(51) et seq. Section 2 of 1968 PA 317
generally prohibits public servants from being interested in, soliciting, negotiating or
approving contracts with the public entity they serve.13 This means that, recusal or not,
disclosure of conflicts or not, MSF/MEDC appointees may not be parties, even through
their employer (indirectly), to contracts with the MSF/MEDC. This also means that they
may not solicit (apply for) grants/contracts either.
The preceding paragraph on the MSF Act and Contracting with Public Servants
statutes is essential to the analysis here because MCL 15.342 Ethics Act states “(3) A
public officer…shall use…funds under the officer…’s official care and control
judiciously and solely in accordance with prescribed constitutional, statutory, and
regulatory procedures and not for personal gain or benefit.” This means the
MSF/MEDC appointees must follow the “statutes”, or “laws”, that were written to
specifically apply to their official positions, including MCL 15.322 by way of the MSF
Act. The Board of Ethics must refer to the MSF Act to determine whether the accused
have used funds in their care with prescribed statutory procedures and not for personal
gain. The MSF Act is the statute that prescribes the procedures MSF/MEDC
appointees must use when administering the funds. And the MSF mandates the
application of MCL 15.322 to MSF/MEDC board/committee members/appointees.
The Ethics Act Sec. 2 states “(4) A public officer…shall not solicit or accept …money,
goods, services, or other thing of value for the benefit of a person or organization,
other than the state, which tends to influence the manner in which the public officer or
employee or another public officer or employee performs official duties.” This means
conduct that could be construed as a quid pro quo is prohibited. The Act also states “
(5) A public officer or employee shall not engage in a business transaction in which the
public officer or employee may profit from his or her official position or authority or
benefit financially from confidential information which the public officer or employee
has obtained or may obtain by reason of that position or authority” and “(6) …a public
officer…shall not engage in or accept employment or render services for a private or
public interest when that employment or service is incompatible or in conflict with the
discharge of the officer or employee's official duties or when that employment may
tend to impair his or her independence of judgment or action in the performance of
official duties.” Many of the appointees listed in this complaint are registered lobbyist,
governor appointees, and heads of unions, simultaneously. The Board of Ethics, to
establish a 2(6) violation, requires that complainant establish a nexus between the
officer’s official position and employment which might tend to impair the independence
of judgment required for the discharge of the officer’s official duties.

13 https://www.ag.state.mi.us/Opinion/datafiles/1990s/op06906.htm



Randy Thelen was appointed to MSF board on April 26, 2023. Bill Pink, Tom Lutz, and
Krista Flynn were all appointed to the MEDC Executive Committee in April 2019 and
reappointed April 2024.14 Krista Flynn was also appointed to the Grand Rapids-Kent
County Convention/Arena Authority in March 2024. Jennifer Root, who is an active
registered lobbyist according to Michigan lobby records, was appointed, along with
several other SEIU staff, to the Nursing Home Workforce Stabilization Council in
February 2022.15

Jennifer Root and Bill Pink were also both appointed to the governor’s Growing
Michigan Together Council, which was created by Executive Order 2023-4-. Pink
appears to no longer be serving on Growing Michigan.16 Stephen Pontoni, another
active lobbyist registered with the state of Michigan, was appointed to the Huron
Clinton Metropolitan Authority Board of Commissioners in July 2021 and reappointed
in September 2023.17 This Board of Commissioners makes policy decisions for the
Authority, including approving expenditures, acquiring land, planning of new parks and
facilities, approving fees and charges, awarding contracts, and other matters necessary
to provide regional recreation.
Tom Lutz is the treasurer/head of the Michigan Regional Council of Carpenters and
Millwrights (MRCC) in addition to serving on the MEDC executive committee board
since 2019. Lutz’s employers have received millions in MEDC taxpayer funded
opportunities while he has been a sitting MEDC committee member. The MEDC

17 https://www.pressandguide.com/2021/07/22/um-dearborn-alumnus-appointed-to-state-board/
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https://www.michigan.gov/whitmer/news/press-releases/2023/07/13/whitmer-announces-more-growing-mi
chigan-together-council-appointees-workgroup-chairs
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https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/doing-business/commissions-boards/nursing-home-workforce-stabilizati
on-council
https://www.michigan.gov/whitmer/news/press-releases/2022/02/23/governor-whitmer-makes-appointmen
ts-to-nursing-home-workforce-stabilization-council#:~:text=Jennifer%20Root%20is%20the%20executive,
Thomas%20Group%20Consulting%20in%20Detroit.

14 https://www.thenewsherald.com/2019/04/05/gov-whitmer-makes-appointments-to-medc-committee/

https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/doing-business/commissions-boards/nursing-home-workforce-stabilization-council
https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/doing-business/commissions-boards/nursing-home-workforce-stabilization-council


funding proceeds contribute to his salary.18 Lutz is also on the Metropolitan Affairs
Coalition (MAC) and SEMCOG board with another MEDC executive committee
member, Lizabeth Ardisana, who runs both boards. MRCC pays MAC funding that
funnels to SEMCOG annually, according to IRS 990s and LM2 reports.19 Lutz also
writes for Detroit News.20 Eli Isaguirre is the lobbyist for MRCC; and an MRCC
employee under Tom Lutz.21 According to US Department of Labor LM2 reports,
MRCC has contributed $364,132 to a Michigan registered nonprofit called Two
Peninsulas Research Group (TPRG).22 Some of the payments include $50,000 on
4/8/19, $50,000 on 3/4/20, $25,000 on 8/11/20, $25,000 on 5/5/21, $50,000 on
11/5/21, and $50,000 on 5/16/22. The MRCC PAC also contributed $28,333 to TPRG
and $139,500 to Whitmer over the last few years. Whitmer paid TPRG $60,000 from
2020-2022, according to Michigan campaign finance records.23

23 https://miboecfr.nictusa.com/cgi-bin/cfr/exp_anls_res.cgi
22 https://olmsapps.dol.gov/olpdr/#Union%20Reports/Payer/Payee%20Search/
21 https://www.linkedin.com/in/eli-isaguirre-74936024/
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https://eu.detroitnews.com/story/opinion/columnists/labor-voices/2024/06/25/labor-voices-infrastructure-in
vestment-creates-skilled-trades-jobs/74201884007/

19 https://www.causeiq.com/organizations/view_990/381602801/c33ba915fba6b11bd1780a6dd5dbfe0d
https://mac.semcog.org/Leadership/Board-of-Directors
https://apps.irs.gov/pub/epostcard/cor/381602801_202112_990_2023031021070830.pdf

18 https://projects.propublica.org/nonprofits/organizations/383292997/202420349349300702/full

https://www.causeiq.com/organizations/view_990/381602801/c33ba915fba6b11bd1780a6dd5dbfe0d
https://mac.semcog.org/Leadership/Board-of-Directors


Tom Lutz runs several Michigan for profit and nonprofit organizations. In 2020, Lutz’s
MRCC subsidiary, Statewide Carpenters and Millwrights Joint Apprenticeship and
Training Fund (MSCM JATF) EIN 47-1972321, applied for and accepted a federally
funded State Small Business Credit Initiative (SSBCI) collateral support award from
MEDC worth $5 Million, while he was a sitting MEDC Executive Committee member.
The MEDC Executive Committee controls the salary and hiring of the MEDC CEO and
staff, as well as oversees processes of the SSBCI program.1 Lutz, using his authority
over the SSBCI program and MSMC JAFT, received one of the only awards to a
non-profit trust and the highest award ever, since the inception of the venture capital
SSBCI program in 2011.3 In 2022, a mere 18 months after his SSBCI award, while still
an MEDC Executive Committee member, Lutz, was appropriated, through his 501(c)(5),
a $5 Million MEDC grant called the “Schools to Tools.” The 2022 appropriation was
sponsored by Curtis Hertel, to whom Lutz’s MRCC PAC was the top donor in 2021.4 In
March 2023, Lutz’s 501(c)(5), MRCC deposited the first $2.5 Million MEDC granted
them according LM2 reports for 2023. Lutz’s SSBCI contract and “Schools to Tools”
grant contract with MEDC was created in violation of Michigan conflict-of-interest laws,
Michigan contracting with public servants laws, Michigan ethics laws, federal
procurement laws under 2 CFR 200, et al.
Lutz, as a registered lobbyist, head of MRCC and its affiliates, as well as MEDC
executive committee member, lobbied for and accepted MRCC’s non-competitive
appropriation, a thing of value. Within a period of 18 months, MEDC granted Lutz’s
organizations funding worth $10 Million. According to IRS 990 filings, Lutz’s salary
doubled, then nearly tripled in the same brief 18 months it took for MEDC to grant him
$10 Million, despite nobody other than the board making similar salary gains at MSCM
JAFT. His compensation grew with his organizations receipt of MEDC funding, showing
his personal financial interest. Lutz reviews and approves the annual fiscal budget for



MEDC as chair of the MEDC Audit and Governance subcommittee.24 While other
organizations can apply for similar funding from MEDC, they are required to compete
for funding and awards get nowhere near as much funding as Lutz did.25 In his capacity
as Executive Committee member, Lutz did not recuse himself when the committee
discussed SSBCI funding processes.XXXXX Lutz is charged with creating a budget
timeline and monitoring the MEDC budget as an Executive Committee member.
TPRG’s most recent annual Michigan business entity reports list Eli Isaguirre (lobbyist
and political director for MRCC)26, Stephen Pontoni, Doug Pratt, Amy Chapman,
Amanda Stitt, Patrick Schuh, and Jennifer Root on TPRG’s short list of board
members. There is no record of TPRG ever filing IRS 990s, 8872s, or SEC filings as
legally required, despite receiving millions from the same people discussed here.
Jennifer Root, for instance, runs the Michigan Service Employees (SEIU) EIN
38-6088982, which paid TPRG $437,500 since 2018, according to US Department of
Labor LM2 reports. SEIU’s PAC (committee # 508737) gave Whitmer $103,400 from
2018-2022 according to Michigan campaign contribution data.27 SEIU also paid
Michigan Civic Action Fund (MCAF) contributions according to LM2 reports.

In fact, all of the TPRG directors had their tax-exempt organizations contribute to
TPRG. Doug Pratt’s Michigan Education Association has given TPRG $327,132 since
2018. Amy Chapman is the director of the Michigan Donor Alliance and the MCAF, EIN
82-3995979, a 501(c)(4) non-profit in Madison Heights which gave TPRG $288,500 in
2018, $220,000 in 2020, and $220,000 in 2022.28 TPRG Department of Labor LM2
records show labor department reportable revenues of nearly $3 Million over the last
decade, according to the contributors’ (not TPRG’s) IRS filings.29

Justice for All Michigan (JFAM) EIN 82-5471655 (committee # 519782) is a SuperPAC
registered on the Michigan campaign finance website. The state of Michigan campaign
finance website lists JFAM’s address 325 S. Walnut Street, Lansing, MI 48933, which is
occasionally the same address as several organizations discussed here, including the
Michigan Association for Justice. Chapman’s organization MCAF, according to 990
filings, paid JFAM $15K in 2018, $600K in 2020, and $800K in 2022.

29https://projects.propublica.org/nonprofits/organizations/823995979/201932619349300123/IRS990Sched
uleI

28https://projects.propublica.org/nonprofits/organizations/823995979/202102019349300005/IRS990Sched
uleI

27 https://miboecfr.nictusa.com/cgi-bin/cfr/exp_anls_res.cgi
26 https://miboecfr.nictusa.com/cgi-bin/cfr/lobby_srch_res.cgi

25

 https://www.michiganbusiness.org/4a3b10/globalassets/documents/pdfs/training-center-equipment-grant-
awardees.pdf https://www.michiganbusiness.org/workforce-training-grant/
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https://www.michiganbusiness.org/4906a4/globalassets/documents/executive-committee-meeting-minute
s/may-9-2023.pdf

https://www.michiganbusiness.org/4a3b10/globalassets/documents/pdfs/training-center-equipment-grant-awardees.pdf
https://www.michiganbusiness.org/4a3b10/globalassets/documents/pdfs/training-center-equipment-grant-awardees.pdf


The SEIU, led by Jennifer Root, has paid JFAM $400K in 2020 according to Dept. of
Labor LM2 reporting. Data from US Dept. of Labor, IRS 990 filings, and campaign
finance reports show that SEIU, MCAF, MAJ, MEA, and MRCC, paid TPRG a total of
over $4.6 Million over the last few years.30

30 https://olmsapps.dol.gov/query/



Stephen (aka Steven V. aka Steve) Pontoni is the Executive Director of the Michigan
Association for Justice (MAJ) EIN 38-1989639, a 501(c)(6) tax-exempt law league in
Lansing, MI. Pontoni is also president of a Michigan registered non-profit called the
Two Peninsulas Research Group (TPRG) EIN 45-3017171. Pontoni is also a Michigan
registered lobbyist and governor appointee of the Huron-Clinton Metropolitan Authority



Board of Commissioners in Brighton, MI where he lives.31 The MAJ, led by Stephen
Pontoni, paid JFAM hundreds of thousands of dollars according to federal 8872
reports.

Additionally, JFAM has been accepting contributions since at least 2018, but was not
registered as a SuperPAC with the Michigan secretary of state until 2020.32 Although
JFAM and TPRG evade reporting and tracking, TPRG is registered in Michigan as a
nonprofit business entity, showing Pontoni, Pratt, Root, and Stitt, and Chapman as
board members. JFAM’s 8872 reports are submitted by Pontoni’s employee, Laura
Hornshaw.

32 https://cfrsearch.nictusa.com/committees/519782
31 https://www.metroparks.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/Jan-BOC-Meeting-Minutes.pdf



TPRG’s Amanda Stitt was Whitmer’s campaign manager and runs Change Media
Group, a political agency. Lutz’s MRCC has paid Change Media group $552,924 since
2018 according to LM2 reports. Doug Pratt’s Michigan Education Association via the
National Education Association which share the same leadership and address, paid
Change Media Group $1,732,748 since 2018 according to LM2 reports. Jennifer Root’s
SEIU paid Stitt’s Change Media Group $36,155 in 2023. Pontoni’s MAJ and Whitmer
also paid Change Media.33 Since 2020, Progress Michigan, which is ran by the nearly
all of the same people [(Lonnie Scott, Patrick Schuh (registered lobbyist), Doug Pratt
(registered lobbyist), Bob Allison (registered lobbyist), MRCC/Lutz employee and grant
signatory Lisa Canada, and Stephen Pontoni (registered lobbyist)] as TPRG, and has
received millions from the Jennifer Root’s SEIU, Lutz’s MRCC, and Pratt’s MEA/NEA,
and Pontoni’s Michigan Association for Justice unions, as well as Amy Chapman’s
MCAF, according to LM2 and Michigan campaign finance reports. Again, all of these
groups, save Change Media, are tax-exempt.

33 https://miboecfr.nictusa.com/cgi-bin/cfr/contrib_anls.cgi



Doug Pratt is also a director at TPRG, a Michigan nonprofit corporation which again
has never filed 990s and has received millions in contributions. Doug is the treasurer
for a ballot committee called Education Gets Results (EGR). The state of Michigan has
fined EGR for failing to file taxes and other reporting. Pratt’s MEA also unlawful took
$6.4 million in PPP loan funding.34 Whitmer contributed no less than $60,000 to TPRG,
according to Michigan campaign finance records. Pratt’s MEA PAC gave Whitmer’s
campaign $139500, Lutz’s MRCC gave her campaign $139,500, and Pontoni’s MAJ
PAC (committee# 501544) paid Whitmer’s campaign $140,500 since 2017. These
payments were some of Whitmer’s highest campaign contributions according to
Michigan campaign finance records.
.

34

https://www.mackinac.org/pressroom/2023/the-michigan-education-association-improperly-took-covid-19-
relief-funds



excerpt from Michigan Campaign Finance search



excerpt from LM2 report for Two Peninsulas Research Group
How is it that TPRG can earn millions over the course of a few years and not even have
an active website?

Of course, this complaint is not about campaign finance violations or unlawful
campaign coordination, it is about ethics violations and the taxpayers’ rights. The
interrelated transactions created unethical conflicts of interest for the appointees
Pontoni, Lutz, and Root, splintering and skewing their loyalties. The exchanges of
opportunities and funding indicate quid pro quo interactions. Their organizations
ALREADY tax-exempt, with taxpayers footing those bills. Additionally, the
organizations’ leadership already also have a finger on the scale with so many of them



being registered lobbyist and influential political figures. To then give them millions
upon millions of taxpayer funding since they skipped to the front of the line, is not only
unsavory, it is unlawful and unethical. The appointees, like Lutz, do this all while
controlling grants terms and administering the very grants they apply for. The saddest
part of this story is that the taxpayers will also pay for an attorney to defend these
people, as though we have not given them enough. The waste is profoundly disturbing
when our roads, schools, and natural resources are being disregarded.

To establish a violation of Sec. 2(4) of the Ethics Act, a complainant must show a public
officer solicited or accepted a thing of value for the benefit of a person or organization
other than the state, and that benefit had a tendency to influence the manner in which
a public officer performs official duties.35 The incestuous transactions between Lutz,
Pontoni, Root, and their appointer, Whitmer, violate section 2(4) of the Ethics Act
because they are all public officers who accepted a “thing of value: (financial
contributions to TPRG,etc, )” for the benefit of a person or organization (TPRG), other
than the state, which tends to influence the manner in which the public officer or
employee or another public officer or employee performs official duties. Pontoni, Lutz
(via his lobbyist and employee Isaguirre and through grants), and Root have accepted
funding from Whitmer to their organization TPRG while seated at their public
appointments at MEDC, Huron-Clinton Metropolitan Authority Board of
Commissioners, and the Nursing Home Workforce Stabilization Council as shown
below as from Michigan’s campaign finance records.

The fact that the members of TPRG hide their earnings from the state and federal
government removes all doubt that the transactions are unethical. Additionally, Lutz’s
grant transactions as sitting MEDC appointee, gaining millions both for himself and for
his organizations, are things of value he accepted as well as indirectly contracting with
the public entity he serves. Appointees are entitled to make campaign contributions on

35 In re Tax Commissioners, 79-EA-4



their own time as a matter of free speech. However, they are not allowed to use
tax-exempt funds to pay themselves, through various entities, and to use tax-exempt
funds to pay their appointer without creating insurmountable conflicts of interests as
public officials who are simultaneously lobbyists and co-members of two organizations
they secretly work with. Unions, business leagues, social welfare groups, and the like
are also entitled to support what they choose. And taxpayers could not care less what
these people do with their own money, but we (and union dues payers) are being taken
for a ride while Pontoni, Lutz, and Root self-deal tax-free, pay their appointer tax-free,
and then take more of our hard-earned tax dollars while sitting in administrative and
policy positions where they control taxpayer funds. Unfortunately, TPRG’s board
members, through their PACs and tax-exempt organizations were also the top
campaign donors of Michigan’s current secretary of state and attorney general, so the
potential for any Michigan-based cure rests solely with the completely unfunded
Michigan Board of Ethics.36 If other Michigan nonprofits so much as miss a dot on an
“i”, let alone not file a 990, organizations lose their tax-exempt status through LARA.
For some reason, Michigan’s secretary of state and attorney general have not taken
any action on TPRG, despite no 990s…ever being filed with TPRG’s annual reports.
The reciprocal payments to and from TPRG’s governor appointer create a conflict
which would tend to influence the manner in which public officers Stephen Pontoni,
Tom Lutz, and Jenifer Root perform official duties.

Pontoni, Lutz, and Root also violated subsection (6) of the Ethics Act’s section 2. To
establish a violation of Sec. 2(6) of the Ethics Act, a complainant must show that a
public officer has engaged in employment that may tend to impair their independence
of judgment or action in performing their official duties or has engaged in employment
that presents a conflict of interest in the discharge of their official duties. It is not
necessary that the public officer’s independence of judgment or action actually be
impaired; rather a violation can occur where a situation may tend to impair the required
independence of judgment.37 Being lobbyists in financial cahoots with their appointer,
which is demonstrated by TPRG’s appointees’ financial exchanges with Whitmer as
well as their using their tax-exempt organizations (MAJ, MRCC, and SEIU) to fund their
own other organizations (Progress Michigan and TPRG) as well as to fund Whitmer’s
campaign strategist via Change Media, impairs Pontoni, Lutz’s, and Root’s
independence of judgment. The transactions and positions are reciprocal, excessive,
hidden (no state or federal filings for TPRG), and partisan. Simultaneously working at
TPRG, Progress Michigan, etc. is incompatible with being governor appointees serving
the taxpayers, constitution, and their agencies. They have been paid to serve Whitmer
and themselves, not the state. Michigan governors have a history of putting these sorts
of clusters of loyalists where they need them and then let the rewards flow.

37 In re: Hughes v. Mikula 23- ED-01

36 The fact that our Board of Ethics has no funding while these appointees has millions upon millions
shows our collective priorities.



Lutz went a step further by soliciting and accepting grants from MEDC. He violated
Ethics Act section 2(3) in addition to (4) and (6). The others may have as well, the BOE
has an obligation to investigate as the job of discovery should not belong to an
individual taxpayer. To establish a violation of Sec. 2(3) of the Ethics Act, a complainant
must show that a public officer has actually received some personal gain or benefit
from the misuse of funds under their care or control.38 Under subsection (3), Lutz has
clearly indirectly solicited funding from MEDC through his employers and he did it for
personal gain, at least partially.
  

  
 

 
 
 

38 In re: MSEA v. Kolb, 2015-ED-3.



MCL 15.328 regarding contracts of public servants with public entities: It is the
intention that this act shall constitute the sole law in this state and shall supersede all
other acts in respect to conflicts of interest relative to public contracts.
(3) A public officer or employee shall use personnel resources, property, and funds
under the officer or employee's official care and control judiciously and solely in
accordance with prescribed constitutional, statutory, and regulatory procedures and
not for personal gain or benefit.
The MSF Act, the statute describing MSF appointee duties, (which, after the interlocal
agreement also transfer along with powers to MEDC), states: “…notwithstanding
section 3(1) of 1968 PA 317, MCL 15.323, members of the (MSF) board and officers
and employees of the fund are subject to 1968 PA 317, MCL 15.321 to 15.330
(Contracts with Public Servants). MCL 15.322 states that “a public servant shall not be
a party, directly or indirectly, to any contract between himself or herself and the public
entity of which he or she is an officer or employee…;a public servant shall not directly
or indirectly solicit any contract between the public entity of which he or she is an
officer or employee and any of the following: …Any firm …of which he… is a(n)…
employee.” Lutz as a MEDC appointee is prohibited from his organization applying for
an accepting grants contracts from the public entity he serves (MEDC). In OAG No.
6005 (1981) Attorney General Kelley found that an "official who is employed by the
intended beneficiary (of a contract) of quasi-judicial municipal action is in conflict of
interest and may not participate in official action involving the employer of such
person.” In another opinion from the same year OAG No. 5864, Kelley concluded that
members of the site approval board, having a direct employment nexus with the permit
applicant… are in conflict of interest.” In these cases, it was established that
employees have an interest in contracts involving their employers, however the
board/commission appointees were not ruled by the MSF statute and therefore could
be indirect parties to and/or solicit/apply for contracts, though they could not vote on
the contracts. The Michigan BOE found, in the 1978 Certificate of Need Commission
decision, that “under the Ethics Act, a personal interest of a…commission member
includes the interest of the member’s employer, even though the member may not
receive monetary or pecuniary remuneration as a result of the adopted standard.” So
even if Lutz received no boost in salary from his MEDC contracts, he is in conflict in
activity related to MEDC grants with his employer. Because the MSF applies to Lutz, as
MEDC appointee, he must also follow 15.322 and not, even indirectly, for a grant
contract between MEDC and MRCC and its affiliates.

Randy Thelen is the CEO of 501c6 organization, the Right Place, Inc. in addition to
serving as MSF board member. Thelen previously worked as a salaried MSF/MEDC
employee and was later grantee via the Right Place, Inc. prior to Whitmer appointing
him to a term lasting until 2026.39 Bill Pink is the vice-chair and Krista Flynn is an
at-large board member of Thelen’s the Right Place, Inc.’s board of directors in addition

39 https://theorg.com/org/the-right-place/org-chart/randy-thelen



to both being MEDC executive committee members under the MSF.40 Bill Pink is also a
board member of Gentex (a MEDC grant recipient Thelen approved funding despite
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) charges and fines against Gentex).41 Bill
Pink is also grantee from MEDC/MSF via his employer Ferris State University, though,
again, he is not the subject of any of the complaints here.42 Likewise, neither the
current and past chair of the Right Place Inc. (Tina Freese Decker of
Corewell/Spectrum Health nor Steven Downing of Gentex,43 respectively, [whose
organizations have also received millions from MEDC]) are subjects of this complaint.
However, it is of note that Pink, Decker, and Downing as the Right Place, Inc.
leadership, determine Thelen’s annual salary and performance bonuses, according to
IRS 990 filings schedules J and O.44 Pink and Thelen’s respective organizations are
partners with Gotion, another MEDC/MSF grantee, which is building an EV battery
plant in Big Rapids, MI.45 The Right Place, Inc. has applied for/solicited MSF grants
worth millions of taxpayer dollars while Thelen sits on the MSF board which determines
the terms and approves the very grants he applies for through his employer. Again, the
MEDC/MSF grant proceeds contribute to Thelen’s salary. In February 2023, the SEC
charged and fined Gentex $4 Million for bonus compensation and accounting lapses.46.
On July 23, 2024 Thelen voted to approve millions worth of performance-based
renewal of MEDC/MSF taxpayer funding for Gentex at the MSF board meeting without
saying a word regarding Gentex’s SEC violations and fines.47 Thelen recused himself
during the same meeting for other discussion and voting. As shown below in a news
excerpt Thelen regularly publicly lauds Gentex as they relate to economic development.
Thelen and Pink, as state appointees serving taxpayers and the constitution share an
obligation of at least sharing Gentex’s SEC charges and fines. The MEDC committee
bylaws state that members of the board have a duty to protect the taxpayer funds they

47

https://www.michiganbusiness.org/4a199f/globalassets/documents/msf-board/msf-board-packets/july-23-
2024-msf-board-packet_final_web-upload.pdf

46

https://www.complianceweek.com/regulatory-enforcement/gentex-fined-4m-for-bonus-compensation-acco
unting-lapses/32637.article

45

https://www.michiganbusiness.org/press-releases/2022/10/whitmer-announces-new-battery-component-m
anufacturing-facility-big-rapids-creating-2350-jobs-investment-more-than-$2.3-billion/

44 https://projects.propublica.org/nonprofits/organizations/274012914/202242439349300424/full on
schedules J and O.

43 https://www.crainsgrandrapids.com/news/manufacturing/gentex-expanding-in-zeeland/ and
https://www.michiganbusiness.org/press-releases/2023/11/grants-for-mobility-pilot-programs/
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https://www.mlive.com/news/grand-rapids/2023/03/state-taps-ferris-state-to-help-recruit-talent-for-surging-
electric-vehicle-sector.html

41 https://ir.gentex.com/corporate-governance/board-of-directors
40 https://projects.propublica.org/nonprofits/organizations/383262801

https://projects.propublica.org/nonprofits/organizations/274012914/202242439349300424/full
https://www.crainsgrandrapids.com/news/manufacturing/gentex-expanding-in-zeeland/


grant.48 Ordinary individuals would mention SEC charges for a grant renewal candidate,
but perhaps not if the candidate CEO controlled their compensation.

excerpt from MEDC committee by-laws

To establish a violation of Sec. 2(6) of the Ethics Act, a complainant must show that a
public officer has engaged in employment that may tend to impair their independence
of judgment or action in performing their official duties or has engaged in employment
that presents a conflict of interest in the discharge of their official duties. The
complainant must establish a nexus between the officer’s employment might tend to
impair the independence of judgment required for the discharge of the officer’s official
duties. Randy Thelen’s salary is directly tied to successful MEDC grant applications
because of his performance bonuses and as the literal means for his wages. Another
inextricable nexus because Thelen’s employment and the discharge of his duties as
MSF board member is the sheer amount MSF activity, he must recuse himself from. In
January 2024 alone, Thelen had to recuse himself from 18 out of 22 resolution votes
because of conflicts.49 Thelen, unlike other appointees has had to recuse himself at
more than half of the MSF board meetings in the year since his appointment, including
6 times in July 2023 and 9 times in September 2023.50 Additionally, on July 23, 2024
Thelen voted to approve a performance-based renewal of up to $5.5 Million grant
funding for Gentex, whose CEO Steven Downing determines Thelen’s salary and
performance bonuses as chair of Thelen’s employer, the Right Place, Inc.51 Gentex was
fined $4 Million in 2023 while Bill Pink, who also controls Thelen’s compensation, also
sat on Gentex’s board while a grant recipient from MEDC/MSF via Ferris State and
simultaneously sitting on the MEDC executive committee.

51

https://www.michiganbusiness.org/4a199f/globalassets/documents/msf-board/msf-board-packets/july-23-
2024-msf-board-packet_final_web-upload.pdf at p. 42

50 Id.

49

https://www.michiganbusiness.org/about-medc/michigan-strategic-fund/michigan-strategic-fund-board-pac
kets/

48

https://www.michiganbusiness.org/4944f8/globalassets/documents/reports/medc-reports/seventh-amende
d-and-restated-medc-by-laws.pdf

https://www.michiganbusiness.org/4a199f/globalassets/documents/msf-board/msf-board-packets/july-23-2024-msf-board-packet_final_web-upload.pdf
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The MSF Act also states “Sec. 5 (2) A member of the board or officer, employee, or
agent of the fund shall discharge the duties of his or her position in a nonpartisan
manner, with good faith, and with that degree of diligence, care, and skill which an
ordinarily prudent person would exercise under similar circumstances in a like
position.” Because the Ethics Act requires that the MSF board follow applicable
statutes and not act for personal gain, Thelen is required to follow MSF 125.2006 (2),
when the subject of Gentex came up, Thelen was obligated to inform the rest of the
MSF board of Gentex’s SEC charges to protect the fund. Surely he will say he didn’t
know, but there is zero chance he did not know that Downing determines his salary
and therefore had a conflict of interest related to approving Gentex’s
performance-based funding renewal. Assuming Thelen didn’t know about Gentex’s
SEC violations, he definitely knew Gentex’s CEO controlled his compensation and that
he should have disclosed that fact and recused himself from the discussion and vote.

It is in appropriate, at best, for Thelen to approve up to $5.5 Million worth of
performance-based funding for an organization lead by the same person who approves
his salary and performance bonuses, especially when Gentex was just fined $4 Million
for unlawful accounting practices related to compensation.52

52 https://www.sec.gov/enforcement-litigation/administrative-proceedings/34-96819-s





Randy Thelen has personally received hundreds of thousands (and his organizations
have received hundreds of millions in taxpayer funding), as a result of his incompatible
positions as governor-appointed MSF board member at the MEDC and as CEO of the
Right Place, Inc., where Thelen has worked since 2021.53 Thelen’s conduct, especially
given his performance-based bonuses, demonstrate Thelen is incentivized, partial, and
financially interested to benefit his employer as opposed to the state, at the expense of

53 https://www.rightplace.org/about-us/our-team/randy-thelen



the taxpayers. Despite some performative recusals for MSF votes, Thelen, as CEO of
The Right Place, Inc., is responsible for all MEDC/MSF grants contracts at the Right
Place, Inc. as well as at MSF. He speaks publicly in defense of the related projects
often.54 In July 2023 MSF board voted to amend the SSRP terms in favor of Thelen’s
needs while Thelen recused himself.55 In August 2023, Thelen discussed and voted for
SSRP terms.56 In September 2023 MSF awarded Thelen and the Right Place, Inc
$4,021,581 in SSRP on top of the $50,000,000 MSF had approved for Thelen and the
Right Place, Inc.57 in October 2022. 58 On September 26, the MSF voted to give the
Right Place Inc., an “implementation” grant of over $400,000.59 On September 15, 2023
the Right Place, Inc. entered into the MSF approved, $50,000,000 SSRP and
$125,000,000 CIP contract, which means Thelen, via his employer, entered into a
contract with the MSF board while he was a sitting and voting member. On February
12, 2024 the Right Place Inc., Thelen’s employer, entered into a SOAR contract worth
$4,021,581. The full contracts are included in the evidence I have submitted and the
state that terms are governed by Michigan Law. Thelen actively solicited the MSF
SSRP funding and is an indirect party to the SSRP grants between MSF, where he is an
appointed member, and the Right Place, Inc., where he is CEO.60

Thelen’s The Right Place, Inc. applied to MSF for (and received) federal funding from
Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (SLFRF) program authorized by the
American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) in the amount of $3,600,000 for Michigan's
revitalization and placemaking program (RAP) in September 2022. Records show
Thelen requesting SOAR funding for The Right Place, Inc. in October 2022.61 In June
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https://www.michiganbusiness.org/4aa8e1/globalassets/documents/msf-board/msf-board-packets/msf-bo
ard-packet_october-25-2022_final.pdf page 11 page 29
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https://www.michiganbusiness.org/4a8430/globalassets/documents/msf-board/msf-board-packets/msf-sp
ecial-october-packet_final.pdf

59 Id.
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https://www.michiganbusiness.org/48d5ee/globalassets/documents/msf-board/msf-board-packets/septem
ber-2023-msf-board-packet.pdf page 269 and
https://www.michiganbusiness.org/48d5ee/globalassets/documents/msf-board/msf-board-packets/septem
ber-2023-msf-board-packet.pdf

57

https://www.michiganbusiness.org/495c0c/globalassets/documents/reports/legislative-reports/fy2023-msf-
annual-report.pdf page 83
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rd-packet-august-2023.pdf page 41
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https://www.bigrapidsnews.com/news/article/green-charter-township-board-faces-questions-18615796.ph
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2023, Thelen discussed and made a vote regarding SLFRF funding including the small
business support hubs as well as the RAP 2.0 program. Thelen was appointed to the
MSF board in April 2023, the RAP 2.0 application opened in May 2023 and closed in
June 2023.62 By the end of 2023, Thelen and the Right Place, Inc. received that
additional round of RAP grant funding in the amount of $6,179,744 under the RAP 2.0
program.63 His was the only state economic development corporation, out of 20, to
receive both RAP 1.0 and 2.0 program grants.64 At the July 23, 2024 MSF meeting,
Thelen voted on RAP agreements as well as to approve Gentex funding
reauthorization.65
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https://www.michiganbusiness.org/4a199f/globalassets/documents/msf-board/msf-board-packets/july-23-
2024-msf-board-packet_final_web-upload.pdf

64https://www.michiganbusiness.org/services/partners/#:~:text=Ten%20regions%20were%20formed%20a
nd,the%20Michigan%20Economic%20Developers%20Association.
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62 https://www.michiganbusiness.org/rap/2/



RAP 1.0 subgrant recipients



RAP 2.0 subgrant recipients

Compensation and performance-based bonus process for The Right Place, Inc. on 990 schedule O

The Right Place leadership compensation from 990

Thelen, as CEO of The Right Place, Inc., administers the grant contracts that his
organization has sought as a governor appointed MSF committee member. As
simultaneously acting as grantor and grantee, Thelen holds unlawful incompatible



positions and has several insurmountable personal financial conflicts of interest.66 The
nexus between his employment and a tendency for impaired judgment related to his
MSF duties lie in his performance-based bonuses, MEDC executive committee
members determining those bonuses, Thelen’s votes to give funding to Gentex, whose
CEO also determines Thelen’s compensation and bonuses, and that his wages are
based on grants funding generally. Thelen’s very appointment in April 2023 created
insurmountable conflicts because so much of what the MSF does relates to funding
Thelen seeks and receives.

As MSF board member, Thelen exercises control over the Michigan Strategic Fund(s).
Ethics Act 2 subsection (3) states that a “public officer…shall use…funds under the
officer…’s official care and control judiciously and solely in accordance with prescribed
constitutional, statutory, and regulatory procedures and not for personal gain or
benefit.” The MSF Act, which is the controlling authority for MSF board appointees,
mandates compliance with two specific statutory mandates for grant making
procedures. One of which is MCL 15.321 to 15.330. MCL 15.322 states that “a public
servant shall not be a party, directly or indirectly, to any contract between himself or
herself and the public entity of which he or she is an officer or employee…; a public
servant shall not directly or indirectly solicit any contract between the public entity of
which he or she is an officer or employee and any of the following: …Any firm …of
which he… is a(n)… employee.” This means Thelen and the Right Place, Inc. are barred
from applying for MEDC/MSF grants and from contracting with MEDC while Thelen sits
as an MSF board member. He did both repeatedly with every grant detailed above in
violation of subsection (3) of the Ethics Act Sec. 2.

Sec. 2(4) of the Ethics Act, a complainant must show a public officer solicited or
accepted a thing of value for the benefit of a person or organization other than the
state, and that benefit had a tendency to influence the manner in which a public officer
performs official duties.67 Thelen’s indirect (via the organization where he is CEO)
solicitation (applying for) and entering into a contract with MSF also violates sections
(4) and/or (5) of the Michigan Ethics Act, because he accepted performance-based
bonuses that would influence his conduct as MSF board member. Under Ethics Act 2
subsection (4) his influence came in many forms: Thelen did not speak up about
Gentex’s SEC charges and fines when the Gentex CEO funding renewal was up for a
vote, Thelen sought MEDC/MSF grants he may not have, for the Right Place, Inc., if his
own compensation was not directly linked to them.68 Under subsection (5), he profited
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https://www.michiganbusiness.org/4a199f/globalassets/documents/msf-board/msf-board-packets/july-23-
2024-msf-board-packet_final_web-upload.pdf at p. 42

67 In re Tax Commissioners, 79-EA-4
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from his official position by pursuing MEDC/MSF funding that increased his
performance-based bonus with his employer. He benefitted from his official position by
approving Gentex’s funding renewal without disclosing his conflict of interest or
Gentex’s SEC violations. Thelen also controls the terms of the grants and is first in line
to apply so he benefits from his official position.

Additionally, the sheer frequency of recusal demonstrates that Thelen’s employment is
incompatible with MSF board membership. He was a grantee when he was appointed.
The violations of subsection (3) of the Ethics Act Sec. 2 partially show why his roles
are in conflict. Thelen is statutorily barred from being both a grantee and grantor,
whether directly or indirectly. Thelen also did not have independence of judgment when
the man who controls compensation at his employment had a grant before the MSF.
His judgment is impaired and the nexus is the lack of discuss about Gentex’s fines and
SEC charges as well as his perpetual grant application via the Right Place, Inc. Thelen
also violated MSF act conflict of interest laws MCL 125.2006 (5) and (6) when he voted
for Gentex’s funding without discussing the SEC violations.

https://www.bigrapidsnews.com/news/article/green-charter-township-signs-infrastruct
ure-18340943.php

Under Michigan law, "incompatible offices" means public offices held by a public
official which, when the official is performing the duties of any of the public offices held
by the official, results in any of the following with respect to those offices held:
(i) The subordination of 1 public office to another; (ii) The supervision of 1 public office
by another; and/or (iii) A breach of duty of public office. Michigan courts have
concluded that a breach of duty arises when a public official "cannot protect, advance,
or promote the interest of both offices simultaneously.'" 233 Mich. App. 381 (1997).
Courts further reasoned that a breach occurs when an "issue arises in which one
constituency's interests may conflict with the interests of a separate constituency
represented by the official." Id. at 382. The Right Place, Inc. is an economic
development corporation developed under the

https://www.bigrapidsnews.com/news/article/green-charter-township-signs-infrastructure-18340943.php
https://www.bigrapidsnews.com/news/article/green-charter-township-signs-infrastructure-18340943.php


Michigan Economic Development Corporation Act of 1974.69

MEDC makes sure to often exclude or diminish conflict of interest language in grant
contracts because so many appointees receive millions in taxpayer funding from
MEDC (including Fay Beydoun, Tom Lutz, Sheldon Neeley, Bill Pink, Krista Flynn,
etc.).70 As you can see from Thelen’s grant contract excerpt below, MEDC contracts
often carve out an unlawful exception to conflict-of-interest requirements.

Michigan Law MCL 750.174 defines “embezzlement” as “when an agent or
employee of an individual, business, or the government uses his or her position of
trust to fraudulently take the property, valuables, or proprietary information.”

I submitted a FOIA request to MEDC related to the RAP grant agreement, to show
whether Thelen was appointed by the time the first RAP grant contract was signed.
SLFRF rules state that "recipients may not use SLFRF funds in violation of the
conflict-of-interest requirements contained in the Award Terms and Conditions,
including any self-dealing or violation of ethics rules." The applicable uniform guidance
from 2 CFR 200.318 mandates that "no employee, officer, or agent may participate in
the selection, award, or administration of a contract supported by a federal award if he
or she has a real or apparent conflict of interest." MEDC knows they are caught again
and will not fill my FOIA requests without payment. I made one payment last week, but
am sending this complaint now because in a previous experience with MEDC I was
charged over $880 for a FOIA request that had zero responsive documents. I also think
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https://www.corpmagazine.com/break-room/grant-aims-to-help-regional-advanced-manufacturing-technol
ogy-companies-attract-retain-talent/
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taxpayers have given MEDC enough money. The BOE has every right to request these
documents. The taxpayers deserve robust investigations.

2 CFR 200.318 goes one to state: “the officers, employees, and agents of the
non-Federal entity may neither solicit nor accept gratuities, favors, or anything of
monetary value from contractors or parties to subcontracts.” Thelen is an appointed
officer of the non-federal entity (MSF) and accepts performance-based bonuses
directly tied to his solicitation and acceptance of MSF federal and state taxpayer
funded grants.

The Michigan Attorney General has ruled that it violates the Incompatibles Offices
Act for more than one member of the township planning board to simultaneously
serve on the township’s zoning board of appeals. Opp. Atty. Gen. 1999, No. 7012.
The compatibility analysis in OAG’s pivot on the existence of a contract. Thelen,
by way of his employer, is a party to several MSF grant contracts despite being an
MSF board appointee who discusses and votes on the grants terms. Thelen was
not eligible to be appointed to MSF board because of his pending grants and/or
former employment position. Once appointed, his organization was in eligible for
grants while Thelen exercised control over the grants.

In Macomb County Prosecutor v. Murphy analyzed the Act as follows:

Under the common law, public offices were incompatible when the nature of the
positions created the potential for a breach of duty. Following the enactment of
the incompatible offices act, an incompatibility now arises only when a breach of
duty actually results from the performance of the duties of the public offices.
Abstaining from any official actions in an attempt to avoid the incompatibility
does not remedy a breach of duty, vacating one of the offices is the only solution
to the problem.

2 CFR 200.318 states that “in order to ensure objective contractor performance and
eliminate unfair competitive advantage, contractors that develop or draft specifications,
requirements, statements of work, or invitations for bids or requests for proposals must
be excluded from competing for such procurements. Some of the situations
considered to be restrictive of competition include but are not limited to:
(1) Placing unreasonable requirements on firms in order for them to qualify to do
business;
(2) Requiring unnecessary experience and excessive bonding;
(3) Noncompetitive pricing practices between firms or between affiliated companies;
(4) Noncompetitive contracts to consultants that are on retainer contracts;
(5) Organizational conflicts of interest;



(6) Specifying only a “brand name” product instead of allowing “an equal” product to
be offered and describing the performance or other relevant requirements of the
procurement; and
(7) Any arbitrary action in the procurement process.
Under federal acquisition regulations (FAR), “organizational conflict of interest” (OCI)
“means that because of other activities or relationships with other persons, a person is
unable or potentially unable to render impartial assistance or advice to the
Government, or the person's objectivity in performing the contract work is or might be
otherwise impaired, or a person has an unfair competitive advantage.”71 Randy Thelen
determines the terms and eligibility of MSF grant contracts as an MSF appointee. This
power and influence/familiarity with the rest of the board gives his organizations an
unfair competitive advantage for government contracts that they are not lawfully
eligible for. FAR Subpart 9.5 and, in particular, FAR 9.505 provide the general rules that
govern OCIs. Case law in the federal court and the U.S. Government Accountability
Office have classified OCIs into three categories: (1) biased ground rules, under which
the contractor was unfairly able to set the competition rules for the procurement, such
as preparing specifications or work statements (FAR 9.505-2); (2) impaired objectivity,
where a firm's ability to render impartial advice would be undermined by the firm's
competing interests; and (3) unequal access to information (see FAR 9.505-4). Thelen is
clearly guilty of all of these. He determines the MSF grant terms, creates terms in his
organization’s favor, and has an unfair advantage with his relationships and dual
conflicting positions as MSF board member and CEO of the Right Place, Inc.
A recent example:
In the last year, the Right Place, Inc received taxpayer funding including, but not limited
to…

● " A $125 million Critical Industry Program performance-based grant through the
SOAR Fund

● An MSF Designated Renaissance Zone estimated to be worth $540 million
● A $50 million Strategic Site Readiness Program performance-based grant

through the SOAR Fund will be administered by The Right Place to assist with
infrastructure improvements."72

Another example from January 30, 2024:
The Right Place, Inc., and project partners Franklin Partners and Lowell Charter
Township announced they have received $17.5 million from the Michigan Economic
Development Corporation’s (MEDC) new Strategic Site Readiness Program (SSRP) to
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https://www.rightplace.org/news/new-battery-component-manufacturing-facility-in-big-rapids-to-create-2-3
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71 FAR 2.101.



help prepare the 237-acre Covenant Business Park in Lowell Township for industrial
and commercial use.73

Another example from 2024:
“The state of Michigan is granting $5 million from the 2024 state budget to Ferris State
University’s Jim Crow Museum of Racist Imagery. This is the second time in two years
the museum has received money from the state. It was given $1 million in the 2023
budget, bringing the total to $6 million in two years.”74

Thelen discussing the SSRP grant in September 2023

2
https://www.bigrapidsnews.com/news/article/green-charter-township-signs-infrastruct
ure-18340943.php

74

https://www.michigancapitolconfidential.com/pork/michigan-budget-gives-5m-for-collection-of-racist-image
s

73

https://www.rightplace.org/news/state-awards-17-5-million-grant-to-prepare-lowell-townships-covenant-bu
siness-park-for-development



Gentex performance improved after Thelen’s MSF vote for funding in July 23, 2024.75

From MEDC annual reports:

75 https://ir.gentex.com/financials-and-filings/sec-filings



https://www.michiganbusiness.org/494fba/globalassets/documents/executive-committ
ee-meeting-minutes/march-8-2022.pdf soar 

https://www.michiganbusiness.org/49aadf/globalassets/documents/executive-committ
ee-meeting-minutes/march-17-2022.pdf compensation

https://www.michiganbusiness.org/4a5435/globalassets/documents/executive-commit
tee-meeting-minutes/july-19-2022.pdf soar and ssbci with lutz right there



https://www.michiganbusiness.org/4ac993/globalassets/documents/executive-commit
tee-meeting-minutes/august-30-2022.pdf compensation 

https://www.michiganbusiness.org/49aa42/globalassets/documents/executive-commit
tee-meeting-minutes/january-17-2023.pdf approving fy2023 budget and amending it

https://www.michiganbusiness.org/4a552e/globalassets/documents/reports/medc-rep
orts/medc-fiscal-year-2023-budget-spending-plan.pdf fy2023 budget overview 

https://www.michiganbusiness.org/495c0c/globalassets/documents/reports/legislative
-reports/fy2023-msf-annual-report.pdf detailed fy 2023 budget

https://www.michiganbusiness.org/490545/globalassets/documents/executive-commit
tee-meeting-minutes/november-14-2023.pdf krista flynn budget lead 

https://www.michiganbusiness.org/4a239d/globalassets/documents/executive-commit
tee-meeting-minutes/may-22-2024.pdf conflict of interest

https://www.bridgemi.com/business-watch/jobs-v-china-how-politics-communist-ties-
roiled-23b-gotion-plan-michigan

https://www.michiganbusiness.org/press-releases/2023/04/statements-on-gotions-tra
nsformational-investment-advancing-in-michigan/

https://www.house.mi.gov/Document/?Path=2023_2024_session/committee/house/sta
nding/appropriations/meetings/2023-03-15-1/documents/testimony/The%20Right%20
Place%20Randy%20Thelen%20Gotion%20Testimony%202023%20v2.pdf
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